IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

In The Matter of The Adoption Of: John Doe, Infant Baby Boy: BOB DOE and JANE DOE,

CASE NUMBER 72,593

Petitioners,

vs.

RICHARD ROE and MARY ROE, Respondents.

SID J. WHITE JUL 15 1988 CLERK, SUPREME COURT Deputy Clerk

PETITIONERS' BRIEF ON THE MERITS

CHANDLER R. MULLER, of MULLER, KIRKCONNELL, LINDSEY AND SNURE, P.A. 1150 Louisiana Avenue, Suite 1 Post Office Box 2728 Winter Park, Florida 32790 Telephone: (407) 645-3000

Attorneys for the Petitioners BOB DOE and JANE DOE

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This appeal concerns the adoption of a young boy nearly two years of age. The trial court's order granting the child's adoption by Petitioners was invalidated by the Fifth District in an Opinion which certified a question of great public importance to this Court. This Court accepted discretionary review and has jurisdiction pursuant to Fla.R.App.P. 9.030(2)(v), and Art. V, \$3(b)(4), Fla. Const. (1968).

Richard and Mary met in the summer of 1985 and sexual intimacy soon followed with Mary using birth control pills as the method of contraception (R. 4, 310). However, the parties did not live together. At the time they met, Mary was working in a bank and struggling to single-handedly support and raise a son who was less than a year old (R. 4, 17). She was approximately twenty-four years of age with an educational background which included a B.S. Degree in Political Science from the University of South Florida (R. 22). Richard was approximately the same age with an educational background which included some college (R. 22, 604-605). Neither Mary nor Richard had been previously married.

Four or five months into the relationship, i.e., late

December or early January, Mary discovered she was pregnant as a

consequence of failing to obtain and use any birth control pills

under her renewed prescription (R. 7, 310). She informed Richard

of the fact of pregnancy the day before they were scheduled to

leave on a January ski holiday at Jackson Hole, Wyoming (R. 8, 611).

Although Richard would later blame and berate her for the preg-

nancy, his initial reaction was to suggest that the matter not be discussed until after the ski trip (R. 10, 290, 308-309).

Richard picked up the tab for the Jackson Hole trip inasmuch as his job as a salesman of solar equipment had been very lucrative up to and including the month of December, 1985 (R. 9, 607). His trial testimony was that in the nine months of his employment in the solar industry, he had averaged One Thousand Three Hundred Dollars (\$1,300.00) a week in commissions (R. 606). In December alone, his gross income from sales was Ten Thousand Dollars (\$10,000.00) (R. 607). Knowing that his job would be adversely affected after December, 1985 by the termination of federal tax credits; and knowing of Mary's pregnancy, he, nevertheless, expended Four Thousand Dollars (\$4,000.00) on this ski vacation (R. 9, 607-608, 610).

Upon return, Richard began urging Mary to obtain an abortion because he was not ready to commit to marriage, felt financial pressure, and was upset by the whole idea of the pregnancy (R 10, 631-632). Mary repeatedly told Richard that while she would not abort the child, she could not emotionally or economically raise two children as a single, unwed mother (R. 17, 18). She enlisted the help of third parties to counsel Richard on abortion on two occasions, but he resented and resisted these efforts (R. 11-13, 114, 284).

On February 27, 1986, Mary went to the Jewish Social Services in Phoenix to explore adoption (R. 18, 168). There, she spoke to a counselor named Joy Bagatell of the pressure she was

still receiving from Richard to abort the child (R. 168, 169). She was to continue meeting periodically with Joy Bagatell through July 14, 1986 (R. 223).

Because Mary remained adamant in her refusal to abort the child, Richard finally agreed to the adoption alternative at some point in March of 1986 (R. 20-21, 38, 171, 613, 630, 637). Also in March, Mary wrote a letter to Richard's mother explaining why she would not abort the child and why it was necessary to give the child up for adoption (R. 16). Richard and his mother discussed this letter (R. 661). For as long as five months, Richard continued to agree to Mary's plans for adoptive placement. However, at some point during July, he indicated he would not cooperate since it was Mary's intent that the adoptive family share her Jewish faith (R. 20-21, 37-38, 56, 630, 637).

In terms of Mary's finances during the pregnancy, the record shows that she lost her job at a bank on January 10, 1986 (R. 641). She was out of work approximately three weeks before finding other employment and Richard paid her February, 1986 rent upon her request (R. 640-642). By mid-April, Mary was four months pregnant and again out of work (R. 43). She began receiving Five Hundred Dollars (\$500.00) per month in unemployment monies and supplemented that with what she could earn from babysitting and with food stamps (R. 641, 642). Her babysitting job ran out in July when she was about eight months pregnant (R. 287). Her basic monthly living expenses were running in excess of One Thousand Dollars (\$1,000.00), not including prenatal expenses (R. 224).

Mary's economic position deteriorated as the pregnancy continued (R. 182, 186). This is so, notwithstanding that Richard and his family undoubtedly had loaned her some furniture items months earlier, and, more recently, Richard had paid February's rent and bought her some "special occasion" gifts. Richard continued to see Mary regularly. Sometimes he would simply show up at her apartment, after drinking, and wake her up for sex (R. 111-112). Despite Richard's pursuit of a "relationship" with Mary, and his frequent contact with her, no meaningful support of a repetitive or continual nature came forth to help satisfy basic needs of Mary and her unborn child, such as prenatal medical expenses, food, rent, etc., during the balance of the pregnancy (R. 14, 15, 29, 621). It was Richard's assumption the child being carried by Mary was a girl (R. 39). Any assistance efforts by others to provide groceries or other forms of aid would make Richard angry (R. 292). This lack of meaningful emotional or financial support was a grim reality for Mary, her son, and her unborn child, even after Richard began working again in May, i.e., her fifth month of pregnancy (R. 621). At trial, Richard admitted that he had made a conscious, deliberate decision not to provide support by the following testimony:

- Q. Had you chosen not to marry her and had you chosen not to raise this child that you claimed that you wanted to do on your own, she would have been stuck with a baby, wouldn't she?
- A. Yes, she would have.
- Q. Not just the baby, but two babies?
- A. Yes, sir.

- Q. And you would be free as a bird like you were before, isn't that true?
- A. If I made that decision, yes.
- Q. But you didn't get on a plane and come down here at any point prior to the birth of the child and start supporting her, did you?
- A. That's correct.
- Q. Did you bother picking up a telephone and dialing 1-813-555-1212, which is Information for Tampa, Florida and ask for the listing of Real Estate Broker? [is Mary's mother]
- A. I felt she wouldn't talk to me. No, I didn't.
- Q. Again, what we are talking about is you went through a thinking process, came to a conclusion and then did not act, isn't that true?
- A. That's correct.
- Q. Just like you went through a thinking decision, came to a conclusion and did not act financially, isn't that true, as far as sending her support?
- A. That is true.
- Q. And also as far as sending medical expenses?
- A. That is true.
- (R. 623, 624) (emphasis added).

Richard made no attempt to utilize either his own financial resources (which included at least Nine Thousand Dollars (\$9,000.00) in savings prior to the ski trip), or the available resources of his family to provide for the needs of his unborn child or the needs of the woman carrying his child (R. 607-608, 615-616, 640-641). His best friend, (who was also his roommate from December of 1985 until November of 1986)

testified that there was no change in Richard's lifestyle brought on by his being in between the job of selling solar equipment and the insurance sales work he began in May, 1986 (R. 247).

In July of 1986, Mary was talking by phone with her mother in Florida and began communicating the scope of her financial predicament and frustration, as well as her desire to adopt the child out (R. 733). With Mary's permission, contacted a local Tampa rabbi and before long, Bob and Jane Doe came to be notified of Mary's existence and situation (R. 670, 733). Seeking to preserve their anonymity, the Does asked attorney Mel Pearlman to pursue the Tampa connection on their behalf (R. 384, 670-671).

Bob and Jane Doe, the prospective adoptive parents, are a middle-class couple living in the Central Florida area. They have been married since 1975, are between the ages of thirty-five and forty, and have tried to conceive a child without success.

The first significant information attorney Pearlman received came from a phone conversation he had with a person who identified herself as a "friend" of the natural mother (R. 385).

Because this "friend" knew so much about the natural mother's situation, Pearlman suspected a closer relationship than as represented (R. 386). When questioned on this, the "friend" then admitted she was Mary's mother (R. 386).

interested in coming to Florida (R. 385, 391). Mrs. then communicated Pearlman's number to Mary.

On Saturday, July 19, 1986, Mary called Pearlman at his home and they spoke for approximately ninety minutes (R. 387-388). She told him the putative father "wanted to have nothing to do with her, the pregnancy or the baby" (R. 390). He had not provided support during the pregnancy and she was financially destitute without the means to pay the upcoming rent (R. 389-391). When he asked for the putative father's address or phone number, her response was to inform him that the father would not cooperate in any fashion and cited, as an example, his earlier refusal to fill out medical information forms provided by a Phoenix social agency (R. 389, 55-56). Pearlman then questioned her even more extensively regarding any potential support from the unwed father and was firmly told that her financial situation was a direct result of the putative father's lack of caring and support (R. 391).

When Pearlman asked Mary if she wanted to have the baby in Arizona or Florida, she indicated it was her desire to make a new life for herself and her two-year old son in Tampa, Florida (R. 33, 391). He stressed the seriousness of an adoption decision and the potential ramifications of such a decision on both her life, her two-year old son's life, and the lives of the would-be adoptive parents (R. 391-392). Mary indicated she understood the factors and emotions involved and related that she had an adopted brother (R. 393). When asked point-blank if she still loved the putative

father and whether she would still marry him, she responded, "No." (R.395).

Upon concluding that conversation, Pearlman called Bob and Jane Doe to inform them of the details learned and his impression that Mary was an intelligent, stable person who had thought through the adoption decision very carefully (R. 396).

Pearlman subsequently mailed Mary forms, some of which were pertinent to Richard (R. 23, 24). However, Mary did not even approach Richard with these forms because of his earlier refusal to provide the most basic medical information on himself to the Arizona doctor she went to for pre-natal care (R. 23, 24).

Mary left Phoenix for Florida near the end of July (R. 57). The basic financial arrangements being that the prospective adoptive parents would provide her with one-way air fare, as well as an apartment, utilities, phone, car payment, car insurance, car transport to Florida, life insurance, and medical expenses associated with prenatal care and with the delivery. Such financial payments were to be provided from August 1, 1986 until thirty days after the child's birth (R. 60, 408-409). Additionally, she would receive living expenses of Three Hundred Dollars (\$300.00) per month.

She and her two-year old son left Phoenix quietly, telling Richard, after the fact, by means of a letter channeled through her sister, (R. 47-298). She told not to reveal her whereabouts (R. 298).

Between the time she arrived in Florida and the time she

signed the consent form, Mary never indicated to attorney Pearlman or any members of his law office that there was any change in her circumstance vis-a-vis Richard (R. 583). However, within six days of her arrival in Florida, she initiated contact with Richard by phone and informed him that she was in Florida and why (R. 26, 32). The date of this phone call was August 8, 1986 and it lasted for thirty-two minutes (R. 655). She and Richard were in frequent and lengthy telephonic contact until just before the birth of John Doe on September 12, 1986 (R. 34-35, 87). Although Mary never gave Richard her Florida address, two weeks before delivery she did give him her phone number (R. 85, 653).

The subject of these phone conversations concerned their relationship. She refused to accept his offer to return and just live with him outside of a marriage relationship and repeatedly told him that the unborn child would be better off in a stable, two-parent home (R. 26, 27).

On August 12, 1986, she was interviewed by Janice Yanke of HRS (R. 475, 493). She was shown a blank consent form and a waiver-of-notice form and read the same (R. 481). She was further advised as to the irrevocable nature of the consent in the absence of fraud or duress (R. 483, 484). She was cautioned not to sign the consent following the birth of the child if she had doubts about giving the child up (R. 482). Mary indicated she understood (R. 482, 483).

During the initial interview, Mary told Janice Yanke that Richard never offered financial support; he wanted no responsibil-

ity for the pregnancy; and he did not deny paternity (R. 484, 485, 490). Additionally, Mary stated that she had not lived with Richard. (R. 484). Based on that information, HRS never sought Richard's interview or consent and issued a preliminary approval of the adoption based on their review of the fitness of Bob and Jane Doe (R. 487, 489).

By either late August or early September, Mary came by Pearlman's office and dropped off a letter written by Richard to Mary (and channeled to her through her sister, , and bearing a date of August 18, 1986 (R. 417). The letter discussed the relationship of the natural parents and also asked the mother to "at least think about" letting the natural father raise the child. Attorneys Pearlman, Steve Kutner, and Greg Stark evaluated the letter and concluded it contained nothing that would alter their initial assessment that Richard's consent was not mandated by the Florida Adoption Act (R. 423, 424). Therefore, they did not initiate contact with Richard or inform Bob and Jane Doe about the letter (R. 423, 424).

After the letter, Richard and Mary were again on the phone to each other (R. 34, 35). In the course of approximately two weeks, the following sequence of events took place:

9/04/86 Richard proposes marriage (R. 27).
Mary accepts. Mary calls her mother
wedding plans are made. Mary even buys
a wedding dress (R. 43, 736).

Richard and Mary talk on the phone about the need to reimburse the adoptive couple-even to the point of itemizing what they believe Bob and Jane Doe have spent in order to arrive at a gross figure (R. 86). Richard changes his mind and tells Mary he can't go through with a wedding. (R. 27, 626). Mary asks Richard to let her make the decision and he did not say no (R27-30, 97).

9/08/86 In their next-to-last phone conversation, or Richard told Mary not to "sign any papers" 9/09/86 (R. 87).

9/09/86 Mary decides to keep her child. She does not communicate this decision to the intermediary or to HRS (R. 79).

9/10/86 In their last phone call prior to John Doe's or birth, Mary tells Richard she has decided to 9/11/86 keep the baby (R. 87, 97).

Mary decides to place her child up for adoption when her mother has indicated disapproval of Mary trying to raise two children alone (R.737-738).

9/12/86 JOHN DOE IS BORN. Friday

9/14/86 Mary took medicine in order to dry her breast milk and told the post-partum nurse she was certain she wanted the child placed for adoption (R. 506). At 8:30 A.M., Mary tells the nurse to take the child back to the nursery and that she did not want to see him anymore (R. 506).

9/14/86 At 9:15 A.M., Mary signs the required consent in the presence of attorneys Steve Kutner and Greg Stark and Janice Mahler, R.N. (R. 356, 358, 507, 569, 967). She tells those present she understands the form and she understands its irrevocable nature (R. 354-358, 40-41, 95, 507). Mary is 25 years of age (R. 1141).

9/15/86 John Doe is placed in the adoptive home. Monday

The timing of this child's birth and arrival in the adoptive home is a matter of the deepest spiritual and emotional

meaning for the Does, since it enabled Jane's terminally-ill father the chance to see and hold his namesake before his death two weeks later (R. 683, 684).

Also on Monday, September 15, Mary called a former girlfriend of Richard's to request that she inform Richard that a healthy boy had been born and that adoption papers had been signed (R. 39-40).

Upon learning of the birth of a male child on September 15, Richard told his mother, "Mother, can you believe I have a son? I'm going to go get it" (R. 774). He contacted Mary on September 15 with a marriage proposal. A joint decision was made between the two of them at that time to seek return of the child on the basis that Richard had not given written consent to the adoption (R. 39, 628-629, 719, 774).

On Wednesday, September 17, the intermediary received a brief, terse phone call from Richard. In the call, Richard stated that on his lawyer's advice he was coming to Florida to get his son (R. 361, 362). When asked to identify his lawyer, Richard refused and hung up (R. 362, 363).

Mary cancelled her September 18 appointment with Pearlman's office.

On September 19, 1986, Richard signed an Acknowledgment of Paternity, as well as John Doe's birth certificate (R. 601).

In response to being contacted by Richard and Mary's retained counsel, Pearlman called and met with Bob and Jane Doe on Monday, September 22, 1986, to explain that the biological father

and mother wanted John Doe to be relinquished to them (R. 431, 680).

Bob and Jane Doe declined to voluntarily relinquish John Doe at that time and went forward on October 22, 1986 with the filing of a Petition to Adopt John Doe (R. 784-786).

The biological parties were married November 15, 1986 in Arizona, notwithstanding Richard's earlier-stated preference that marriage be postponed until the return of the child (R. 726).

On at least two distinct occasions before trial and since setting up house together, Richard has physically struck Mary (R. 130-132, 288-289).

Upon the denial of a Summary Judgment motion filed by the biological parents, a three-day, non-jury trial commenced on May 19, 1986 in Orange County, Florida before Circuit Judge Cecil H. Brown.

On June 23, 1986, the trial court entered a Final Judgment granting the adoption of John Doe to Petitioners, Bob and Jane Doe (R. 1142-1153). Its legal and factual findings included its determination that the biological mother's written consent was valid and could not be withdrawn absent clear and convincing evidence of fraud or duress. The Court specifically found the biological mother to be an intelligent, articulate person who voluntarily signed the consent form with an understanding of its binding nature (R. 1147, 1148). The Court rejected Mary's claims that her consent was a product of legal duress and that she had a constitutional right to freely withdraw her consent at any time prior to the entry of a Final Judgment granting adoption.

As for the biological father, the Court granted the adoption petition over his objection, and in the absence of a written consent, concluding that he had impliedly consented by the force of his pre-birth conduct and is now estopped to claim his written consent is required. In so ruling, the Court took note of the fact that the sole reason that John Doe was placed up for adoption at birth was because Richard had been unwilling to show meaningful support during the pregnancy despite his full knowledge of the pregnancy: his full knowledge that Mary was in desperate financial straits and could not raise or support another child as a single parent; and despite his full knowledge that she had turned to the course of adoption for her unborn child (R. 1148, 1149). The trial court rejected Richard's argument that the consent-andwaiver provisions of Fla. Stat. §\$63.062(1) and 63.072(1)(1985) gave him absolute and arbitrary veto power over the adoption simply by virtue of his having filed an Acknowledgment of Paternity subsequent to the child's placement in the adoptive home. The Court rejected Richard's claim that his pre-birth conduct toward the developing child and the natural mother was irrelevant.

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