### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

In The Matter Of The Adoption Of: John Doe, Infant Baby Boy: BOB DOE and JANE DOE, Petitioners,

CASE NO. 72,593

v.

RICHARD ROE and MARY ROE, Respondents.

## ON REVIEW OF CERTIFIED QUESTION FROM FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

1

#### ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS ON THE MERITS

John L. O'Donnell, Jr. of DeWOLF, WARD & MORRIS, P.A. 1475 Hartford Building 200 East Robinson Street Orlando, Florida 32801-1975 (407) 841-7000 Attorneys for Respondents.

#

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Terminating the rights of natural parents, over their objections voiced before a petition for adoption was filed, is wrong, violating the most fundamental principles of our society.

Unwed fathers who have complied with the state's requirements must be treated the same as mothers or married fathers in adoption proceedings. Imposing additional requirements or considering different factors offends federal guarantees of due

process and equal protection. Before the state can terminate a parental relationship because of abandonment, the federal constitution requires that abandonment be proven by "clear and convincing" evidence. Abandonment must be complete and can only occur after the child's birth.

The judgment of adoption excusing the refusal of consent by the natural father is contrary to the clear statutory prescriptions and unsupported by the evidence. There is no statutory warrant for "implied consent" or "equitable estoppel" excusing the statutorily required sworn written consent of the natural father. The only permissible basis for excusing a parent s consent is abandonment of the child.

Even if the parent s pre-birth state of mind were relevant to abandonment, the evidence in this case is uncontradicted that the father expressed his love for his son as early as April and that those expressions continued through his August letter stating his desire to raise the child; his angry phone call to the intermediary immediately upon learning of the attempted adoption, and his transcontinental flight to Orlando to take his son home.

The trial court's ruling in the Final Judgment, ¶46 that the court had "the inherent power, under these facts, to grant the adoption of the child (over the putative father's objection) when adoption would be in the child's best interest" is contrary to the well-established law that a trial court may <u>not</u> consider the child's best interest when deciding whether the child is adoptable.

The evidence that execution of the consent was not an act of the mother's free will is overwhelming. In addition to the normal financial and emotional stresses of an unwed pregnancy, the mother faced the added pressures of having to provide for a two year old son; an intermediary who withheld living expenses, believing she was destitute, at the first sign of "lack of cooperation," and who testified not only that he successfully "controlled" the mother, but also admitted that continued support was contingent on her signing the consent; and her own mother who, when told of Mary's decision to keep the baby, abandoned her a continent away from the child's father whom she loved and with whom she had been in continual contact. After a day of desperate, unsuccessful attempts to contact someone on her side, she signed the consent.

Even if the consent had been freely given, it was revocable until a judgment terminating parental rights was entered. Parental rights are terminated only by a judgment, not by the consent. In agency adoptions, it has been held that a natural parent has the right to revoke a consent at any time before parental rights are terminated. Denying this right to natural parents in intermediary adoptions shatters the constitutional guaranty of equal protection of the law, as well as the specifically expressed statutory intent that natural parents receive the same "safeguards, guidance, counseling, and supervision in an intermediary adoption as they receive in an agency or department adoption."

### ARGUMENT

#### INTRODUCTION

Two fallacious premises form the bases of Petitioners' arguments throughout their brief: first, that Richard "failed to grasp the opportunity" to establish his parental rights and relationship; second, that prospective adoptive parents have "parental rights."

In this case, the Petitioners deprived the father of the opportunity to exercise his parental rights and to develop a relationship with his son. Within days of the child's birth, Petitioners refused to return the little boy to his parents, and have refused the support sent by his father. They had not contacted him in spite of knowing before birth of his desire to raise his child and in spite of being told by HRS that he should <sup>4</sup> be contacted. They have invoked the power of the state to end his relationship with his son. They cannot be heard to complain that the father "failed to grasp the opportunity" to establish a relationship with his son when they purposefully set out to destroy that opportunity.

This case is unique among those relied upon by Petitioners In none of the cases was there a <u>finding</u> that near birth the father was urging the mother to come and live with him so he could support her and the children; always the fathers urge the 5mother to leave the live-in arrangement. In none is there a

HRS does not obtain consents in intermediary adoptions.

E.g., Baby Girl Eason, 257 Ga. 292, 358 S.E.2d 459 (1987); Doe v. Attorney W, 410 So.2d 1312 (Miss. 1982).

letter from the father a month before the birth expressing his desire to raise the child, or a letter five months before the birth telling of his love and desire to see his child. In none does the father fly across the nation with baby clothes to acknowledge paternity and take his child home days after birth. In none is the placement couple aware before filing the petition that both parents object to the adoption of the child. In none 6 7 This case will not fit the pigeonholes into which Petitioners attempt to push it.

Petitioners' second error is ignoring that prospective adoptive parents have no "parental rights" because they have neither the natural relationship nor an adoption judgment, the sole sources of those rights. Petitioners' arguments that allowing the child's father to assert his natural rights interferes with their "rights" is specious.

Throughout their brief, Petitioners discuss the bonding which exists between them and Richard and Mary's son. This bonding occurred because Petitioners chose to reject the pleas of the little boy's parents for the return of their son, even knowing that the boy's father had never consented to the adoption

In Lewis (State) v. Lutheran Social Services, 68 Wis.2d 36, 227 N.W.2d 643 (1975), the father sought custody and was apparently found fit. He had, however, continually denied paternity before the child's birth, expressed no feelings for the child, and had no contact with the mother for three or four months before the birth of the baby.

Cases not seeking custody: Quilloin, <u>infra;</u> Lehr, <u>infra;</u> Steve B.D., <u>infra</u>. Cases seeking custody, but found unfit: Eason; Doe v. Attorney W.

and his mother had withdrawn her consent. This occurred within <u>days</u> of the child being placed in their home. The observation of the court in <u>Small v. Andrews</u>, 530 P.2d 540, 544-45 (Ore.App. 1975), approvingly cited in <u>Adoption of Baby Girl "C"</u>, 511 So.2d 345, 357 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987) is particularly applicable in this 8 case:

The hardships produced by a separation of the child and [the would be adoptive parents] at this time are in substantial measure the result of the [would be adoptive parents'] resistance to the natural mother's efforts to regain custody. Those hoping to become adoptive parents cannot create their best argument for keeping the child's custody by thwarting a natural parent's known wishes.

## I. PARENTAL RIGHTS CANNOT BE TERMINATED BY IMPLIED CONSENT OR EQUITABLE ESTOPPEL.

#### A. CONSTITUTIONAL CONSIDERATIONS

The intrusion of the state in the fundamental parent-child relationship invokes the protection of the constitutional guaranties of due process and equal protection. <u>In the Interest of</u> <u>R.W</u>, 495 So.2d 133, 134 (Fla. 1986); <u>In the Interest of J.R.C.</u>,

See also, The Matter of Baby Girl Eason, 358 S.E.2d. at 463:

The adopting parents have developed a relationship to the child and are presumably providing the care and maintenance parents should provide children. That circumstance might permit a best interests test to be used under other facts. But the relationship here between adopting parents and child did not take place in the absence of state participation. The adoption laws were being pursued through the courts and this accounts for the placement of the child with the adopting parents. The unwed father has a constitutionally potected interest which cannot be denied him through state action. Only the state can alter its action to prevent the developmet of a parent-child relationship with adopting parents until the unwed father's rights are resolved.... If he is fit he must prevail.

480 So.2d 198 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985); Santosky v. Kramer, 455 U.S. 745 (1982); Stanley v. Illinois, 405 U.S. 645 (1972); Caban v. Mohammed, 441 U.S. 380 (1979); Armstrong v. Manzo, 480 U.S. 545 (1965).

Undoubtedly in response to <u>Stanley</u>, Florida and many other states amended adoption statutes in the early Seventies. Florida law now requires not only a hearing for unwed fathers, but <u>requires actual consent</u> when the unwed father acknowledges paternity. <u>Fla. Stat.</u> §63.062; <u>Guerra v. Doe</u>, 454 So.2d 1 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985), <u>rev. den</u>., 462 So.2d 116 (Fla. 1985). Florida law makes <u>no distinction</u> between married fathers and unmarried fathers who have acknowledged paternity.

By choosing to discuss the constitutional dimensions of this case first, Petitioners have put the cart before the horse. The beginning point in the discussion of Richard's paternal rights with his son must be the trial court's unchallenged finding that Richard is a father whose consent is required by Florida law [FJ ¶47]. This immediately distinguishes the case from <u>Quilloin v.</u> <u>Walcott</u>, 434 U.S. 246 (1977) and <u>Lehr v. Robertson</u>, 463 U.S. 248 (1983) in neither of which had the father complied with state 9 law.

<sup>9</sup> <u>Quilloin</u> and <u>Lehr</u> are also distinguishable in that the fathers delayed eleven years and two years before undertaking any action, and did not seek custody. In this case Richard acted in two days after placement, contacting the intermediary, and has always sought custody.

These federal cases settle the question that states may constitutionally impose additional criteria on unwed fathers before giving them a veto equal to other parents. That is not the issue in this case, though, for the trial court found that Richard has met the state imposed criteria to attain equal rights.

Petitioners wish this court to go one step beyond, however, and apply the facially neutral statute in a discriminatory manner by imposing upon unwed fathers conditions and limitations which the statute does not impose on mothers or married fathers.

The Florida statute does not condition the rights of mothers or married fathers to keep their child at birth upon past consideration of abortion or adoption; or expression of only happy anticipation throughout the pregnancy; or payment of prenatal expenses.

The discriminatory impact of Petitioners' position is best illustrated by reversing the argument. If an unmarried mother failed to get prenatal care or failed to pay the bills; considered abortion, and arranged for adoption, but refused to sign the consent or surrender the child, could the prospective adoptive parents <u>compel</u> the adoption because she had abandoned or neglected the child pre-birth; or gave implied consent; or is equitably estopped from revoking an oral commitment to adoption? Certainly such cruelty would not be countenanced by the courts. Is there any basis, other than his sex, to treat differently a man who

acknowledges paternity immediately, giving the child a name and 10 obligating himself to the child's support?

Imposing such additional requirements on unwed fathers because of their sex (father v. mother) or because of their marital status is precisely the invidious discrimination condemned in <u>Stanley v. Illinois</u>, 405 U.S. 645 (1972), involving marital status, and <u>Caban v. Mohammed</u>, 441 U.S. 380 (1979), involving sex-based distinctions, as violative of the equal protection guarantees of the Fourteenth Amendment of the federal constitution.

The Florida adoption statute does not make these distinctions. Once an unwed father acknowledges paternity he is a person whose consent is required, as the trial court found. The statute makes no distinction among mothers, married fathers, or unmarried fathers with respect to the extent of their veto powers or the reasons for which the court may excuse consent. Denying "acknowledged" fathers the right to exercise their veto power and have custody of their children without any statutory warrant is a denial of due process, violative of the Fourteenth Amendment.

In Lehr, the court pointed out they were only concerned with whether the state had adequately protected the father's opportunity to from a relationship with his child. 463 U.S. at 262-263. Florida provides that protection with the acknowledgement of

10

Acknowledgement of paternity obligates a father to support of the child, including past medical expenses, <u>Fla. Stat.</u> §742.031 (1987), and entitles the child to inherit from his estate, <u>Fla. Stat.</u> §732.108 (2)(c) (1987).

paternity, and Richard seized it, accepting "some measure of responsibility for the child's future." Id. at 262.

Florida's statute, like the one in Lehr:

guarantees to certain people the right to veto an adoption .... The mother of an illegitimate child is always within that favored class, but only certain putatuive fathers are included. Id. at 266.

Because the trial court here found Richard within the class favored by the statute, removing the distinction between mothers and unwed fathers, the state may not subject Richard to disparate treatment by considering conduct by him which would not be considered in connection with the mother's rights. <u>Lehr</u>, 463 U.S. at 265-266; <u>Caban</u>.

In applying <u>Lehr</u>, Petitioners rely upon foreign decisions, based on foreign statutes, which cannot easily be translated to Florida because of the great diversity of views among the 11 states.

In <u>Petition of Steve B.D.</u>, 112 Id. 22, 730 P.2d 942 (1986), the court rejected the unwed father's claim because in fifty-one days when he believed the child was still with the mother he made no effort to see the child; initially refused to sign a paternity affidavit; entered the dispute in his own right only after the mother lost, and never sought custody of the child for himself,

11

See, Lehr, 463 U.S. at 256, n. 11. See generally, Annot., 74 ALR3d 421. The Annotation identifies jurisdictions which require waiting periods before valid consent may be given; require consents to be given before judicial officers, and identifies at least eleven jurisdicition absolutely permitting withdrawal of consents, particularly in intermediary adoptions.

only for the mother. Noting that he paid nothing by way of support the court stated:

Still, financial support <u>in any form or amount</u> is one means by which an unwed father can establish a significant relationship with his child. [Emphasis added.]

In this case, Richard communicated his desire for custody of the child immediately after learning of the birth and placement; executed an affidavit of paternity within days; provided rent money, furniture, food, and clothes and other gifts for Mary and her older son before the baby's birth; expressed his desire to raise the baby himself before his birth, and sent support after the baby's birth.

The decision <u>In re Baby Girl M.</u>, 37 Cal.3d 65, 688 P.2d 918 (1984), perhaps comes closest of all the foreign decisions to approximating Florida law since it interpreted a statute very much like Florida's requiring an unwed father's consent if he has placed himself within the statutory classification. The Supreme Court of California referred to the rights of mothers and "pre-12 sumed fathers" as "veto powers" in connection with an adoption and reversed a judgment terminating the father's rights.

In <u>Baby Girl Eason</u>, 257 Ga. 292, 358 S.E.2d 459 (1987), the court <u>reversed</u> the trial court's ruling that it could properly consider the best interests of the child, directing the lower court to decide the father's legitimation petition (Georgia's

12

<sup>&</sup>quot;Presumed father" is the statutory term distinguishing fathers who have not met the statutory requirements from those who have.

method of protecting the father's interest) only upon consideration of fitness and abandonment. On remand, the father was found unfit, and found to have abandoned the child by, among other things, attempting to sell the baby; initiating no contact whatsoever after birth and taking no steps whatever to have his name listed as father on the birth certificate. The established facts here are obviously different.

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